I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS
The Petitioners are Futurewise and the Friends Of Grays
Harbor (collectively FOGH), two Washington State nonprofit
corporations. Both were appellants before the Shoreline
Hearings Board and the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS AND SHORELINES
HEARINGS BOARD DECISIONS

The Petitioners seek review of the following decisions:

1. Friends Of Grays Harbor and Futurewise v. State of
Washington, Department of Ecology, Grays Harbor County;
and the State of Washington, Shorelines Hearings Board, Court
of Appeals Case No. 84019-3-1, Unpublished Opinion filed on
December 12, 2022. A copy of this opinion is enclosed as
Appendix A.

2. Friends Of Grays Harbor and Futurewise v. State of
Washington, Department of Ecology, and Grays Harbor
County, Shorelines Hearings Board (SHB) No. 20-006,

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order ordered on



November 19, 2021. A copy of this order is enclosed as
Appendix B.
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where RCW 90.58.100(2)(h) and WAC 173-26-
176(3)(g) require the “prevention and minimization of flood
damages,” without regard to the cause of flooding, can the SMP
irrationally address flooding from certain causes (riverine, rain),
but omit consideration of flooding caused by sea level rise?

2. Do RCW 90.58.020, RCW 90.58.100(2)(h), and WAC
173-26-176(3) require SMP updates to include policies and
regulations to address the impacts of sea level rise, where it is
undisputed that sea level rise will impact flooding and other
mandatory SMP elements?

3. Do RCW 90.58.100(1) and WAC 173-26-201(2)(a)
require SMPs to address the adverse impacts of sea level rise
based on an analysis incorporating the most current, accurate,

and complete scientific or technical information available,



where the SMP update already incorporates evidence regarding
flooding from other causes but not from sea level rise?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Although sea level rise will impact flooding in Grays

Harbor County and other mandatory SMP elements,

and was raised in the SMP update, the final SMP failed

to address sea level rise.

The unrefuted science shows that sea level rise will have a
substantial and increasing impact on flooding, which is a
mandatory element that must be addressed by the SMP update.!
The State of Washington Department of Ecology (Ecology)
concluded that “[s]ea level rise and storm surge will increase
the frequency and severity of flooding, erosion, and seawater
intrusion—thus increasing risks to vulnerable communities,

infrastructure, and coastal ecosystems.”? Rising seas will cause

the “hazards associated with coastal areas” to “grow.”® A peer-

I'RCW 90.58.100(2)(h). Key relevant statutes and regulations
are included in Appendix C.

2 Certified Record (CR) 000444,

3 CR 000445.



reviewed journal article estimated that at least 8,018 people in
Grays Harbor County will be at risk of adverse impacts from
sea level rise by 2100.* This is the largest population at risk of
any Washington or Oregon county.®> People are not the only
populations at risk. According to Ecology “Grays Harbor and
Willapa Bay will likely experience the greatest loss of key
habitats” for fish and wildlife due to sea level rise.®

In 2012, the National Research Council concluded that
global sea level had risen by about seven inches in the 20™
Century.” Projected Sea Level Rise for Washington State
projects that for a low emission scenario there is a 50 percent
probability that sea level rise will reach or exceed 1.1 feet by

2100 for the area around Copalis Beach in unincorporated

4 CR 002766. This is a peer-reviewed journal. CR 002772 — 73.
> CR 002766.

6 CR 002372. This document was reviewed by advisory groups.
CR 002304.

7CR 002812, CR 002885, CR 002891, CR 002945. This
document was peer-reviewed. CR 002786.



Grays Harbor County.® Projected Sea Level Rise for
Washington State also projects that for a higher emission
scenario there is a 50 percent probability that sea level rise will
reach or exceed 1.5 feet by 2100 for this area.” The location of
Copalis Beach is shown on Map 2 North of the Inventory
Mapfolio.'® Projections are available for all of the marine
shorelines of the county.!! The project sea level rise can be seen
on the NOAA Sea Level Rise Viewer!? and the Nature
Conservancy’s Flood and Sea Level Rise maps.'*> On many
marine shorelines in Grays Harbor County sea level rise will
extend beyond the flood plains mapped by the Federal

Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).'

® CR 002267.

? CR 002269.

10°CR 001800.

''CR 002053.

12 CR 002995-3009.

3 CR 003326-51.

4 CR 003326-51; CR 001816-17.



“Sea level rise will exacerbate existing risks and
vulnerabilities, such as shoreline and coastal bluff erosion,
storm surge, flooding, and groundwater intrusion.”!> Ecology
agrees writing “[s]ea level rise and storm surge[s] will increase
the frequency and severity of flooding, erosion, and seawater
intrusion—thus increasing risks to vulnerable communities,
infrastructure, and coastal ecosystems.”!

The Nature Conservancy mapping shows that Grays Harbor
has large areas of estuarine habitat that are vulnerable to sea
level rise.!” Terrestrial habitats are also vulnerable to sea level
rise.!® Unless wetlands and shoreline vegetation can migrate
landward, their area and ecological functions will decline.’

According to Ecology “[d]evelopment of coastal areas and

shoreline armoring (e.g., bulkheads, seawalls) prevent habitat

15 CR 002049.

16 CR 002394.

7CR 003322.

8 CR 003324.

19 CR 002228, CR 002232. This journal is peer-reviewed. CR
006878.



areas from reestablishing inland.”?® Vegetation loss will also
deprive marine shorelines of the vegetation that protects
property from erosion and storm damage.?! The vegetation and
habitats in Grays Harbor also provide this protective function.??
These losses will also harm the environment including fish and
wildlife.??

For these reasons, sea level rise was an issue during the
update of the SMP.

[A] diverse group of Grays Harbor County citizens
was organized as a “Shoreline Planning
Committee” and met scores of times to review and
provide input on the updated draft plan. This
group, which included a broad spectrum of
perspectives, agreed that the potential impacts of
sea level rise are a serious concern to the property
and residents of Grays Harbor County. As such,
sea level rise was addressed 14 times in the last
draft that the committee reviewed and approved. In
the current draft that is being proposed for
approval, “sea level rise” is only mentioned once
... under goals. All policies that had “sea level

20 CR 002372.

2l CR 002223-24. This journal is peer-reviewed. CR 002226.
22 CR 003322-25.

23 CR 002372, CR 002390.



rise” language were either replaced with weaker
language or removed.>*

Ecology approved the SMP even with these changes.? In the
approved SMP, the only mention of sea level rise is to note that
the public raised the issue at the Pacific Beach open house.?®
The SMP update was a comprehensive periodic update.?’
Therefore the SMP update was required to comply with the
policy of the Shoreline Management Act (SMA) and the
Shoreline Master Program (SMP) Guidelines.?® Several
mandatory elements are integrally impacted by sea level rise
and cannot be credibly addressed without addressing sea level
rise. This most obviously includes flooding — with unrefuted
science showing that sea level rise will have a substantial and

growing impact on the extent, frequency, and impact of

24 CR 002244,

2> CR 004650-82.

26 CR 002075-76.

27 CR 001335.

28 RCW 90.58.080; RCW 90.58.090.



floods.? Other mandatory elements, including the circulation,
use, and conservation elements are also impacted by sea level
rise.”
B. Procedural Posture

The State of Washington Shorelines Hearings Board’s
(SHB) Order concluded there is no requirement for local
governments to plan for sea level rise in SMP updates.’! The
SHB Order also concluded that because there is no requirement
for local governments to plan for sea level rise, Grays Harbor
County did not need to base its SMP update on an analysis
incorporating the most current, accurate, and complete
scientific or technical information available on sea level rise.>?
For these and other reasons, the SHB Order affirmed Ecology’s

approval of the Grays Harbor County SMP update.*’

2 CR 000444; CR 003326-51.

39 RCW 90.58.100(2); CR 002036; CR 002372.
31 CR 008186, CR 008190, and CR 008193.

32 CR 008192-94.

33 CR 008194,



The Court of Appeals opinion affirmed the SHB.?* The
Court of Appeals concluded “[t]he plain language of the SMA
and Guidelines do not require SMPs to address sea level rise
beyond the flood hazard regulations.”® The Court of Appeals
also concluded the SMP complied with the flood hazard
regulations.*® The Court of Appeals concluded that the
County’s Shoreline Analysis Report discussed sea level rise and
included some recommendations.’” The Court of Appeals
concluded that not all of the recommendations need to be
incorporated into the SMP, only that it be used to develop the
SMP. The court of appeals concluded that the SMP update met

the requirements of WAC 173-26-201(2)(a).*®

3% Friends Of Grays Harbor v. State of Washington,
Department of Ecology, Court of Appeals Case No. 84019-3-I,
Slip Opinion p. 17 (Dec. 12, 2022) in Appendix A.

3 Id. atp. 6.

36 Id. at pp. 6-8.

3T Id. at 13.

38 1d. atp. 15.
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V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
A. This appeal presents three important legal questions that

should be answered by the State of Washington Supreme

Court.

Ecology concluded that “[s]ea level rise and storm surge will
increase the frequency and severity of flooding, erosion, and
seawater intrusion—thus increasing risks to vulnerable
communities, infrastructure, and coastal ecosystems.”*” Rising
seas will cause the “hazards associated with coastal areas” to
“grow.”* These threats to Washington State raise three
important legal questions that the State Supreme Court should
address:

1. Where RCW 90.58.100(2)(h) and WAC 173-26-

176(3)(g) require the “prevention and minimization of

flood damages,” without regard to the cause of flooding,

can the SMP irrationally address flooding from certain

39 CR 000444,
40 CR 000445.

11



causes (riverine, rain), but omit consideration of flooding
caused by sea level rise?

. Do RCW 90.58.020, RCW 90.58.100(2)(h), and WAC
173-26-176(3) require SMP updates to include policies
and regulations to address the impacts of sea level rise,
where it is undisputed that sea level rise will impact
flooding and other mandatory SMP elements?

. Do RCW 90.58.100(1) and WAC 173-26-201(2)(a)
require SMPs to address the adverse impacts of sea level
rise based on an analysis incorporating the most current,
accurate, and complete scientific or technical information
available, where the SMP already includes evidence
regarding flooding from other causes but not from sea

level rise?

The FOGH respectfully request the State Supreme Court to

accept review of this case and decide these important legal

questions. This is necessary to help protect Washington’s

communities, residents, landowners, and the environment.

12



B. Standard of Review.
Rule of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4(b)(4) applies here:

“(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.”*!

C. Issue 1: Where RCW 90.58.100(2)(h) and WAC 173-26-
176(3)(g) require the “prevention and minimization of
flood damages,” without regard to the cause of flooding,
can the SMP irrationally address flooding from certain
causes (riverine, rain), but omit consideration of flooding
caused by sea level rise?

Issue 2: Do RCW 90.58.020, RCW 90.58.100(2)(h), and

WAC 173-26-176(3) require SMP updates to include

policies and regulations to address the impacts of sea

level rise, where it is undisputed that sea level rise will

impact flooding and other mandatory SMP elements?

As seas continue to rise and inundate more land more
frequently, whether the SMA requires SMPs to address sea
level rise is an issue of substantial public interest that should be
determined by the State Supreme Court.

The SMA’s “primary purpose ... is ‘to protect the state

shorelines as fully as possible.” Lund, 93 Wn. App. at 336 — 37,

41 RAP 13.4(b)(4).

13



969 P.2d 1072 (quoting Buechel, 125 Wn.2d at 203, 884 P.2d
910).”*? “The SMA “is to be broadly construed in order to
protect the state shorelines as fully as possible. See RCW
90.58.900.”* The policy of the SMA in RCW 90.58.020 “is
designed to insure the development of these shorelines in a
manner which, while allowing for limited reduction of rights of
the public in the navigable waters, will promote and enhance
the public interest.” This includes “the statewide interest in the
prevention and minimization of flood damages ....”*
Although the SMP Guidelines are called “guidelines,” they

are binding state agency rules and SMP updates must comply

with these rules.* WAC 173-26-176(3), one of the SMP

42 Samson v. City of Bainbridge Island, 149 Wn. App. 33, 49,
202 P.3d 334, 342 (2009) review denied 166 Wn.2d 1036, 218
P.3d 921 (2009).

¥ English Bay Enterprises, Ltd. v. Island County, 89 Wn.2d 16,
20-21, 568 P.2d 783, 786 (1977).

# RCW 90.58.100(2)(h).

# RCW 90.58.030(3)(b) & (c); RCW 90.58.080(1) & (7);
Olympic Stewardship Found. v. State Env't & Land Use
Hearings Off. through W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings
Bd., 199 Wn. App. 668, 680, 399 P.3d 562, 567 (2017) review

14



Guidelines, provides that the SMA’s “policy of protecting
ecological functions, fostering reasonable utilization and
maintaining the public right of navigation and corollary uses
encompasses the following general policy goals for shorelines
of the state: ... (g) Prevention and minimization of flood
damages.” This policy goal was included to address the
requirements of RCW 90.58.100(2).%¢ WAC 173-26-186(3)
provides in full that “[a]ll relevant policy goals must be
addressed in the planning policies of master programs.” WAC
173-26-020(28) provides that “‘[m]ust’ means a mandate; the
action is required.”

RCW 90.58.100(2)(h), WAC 173-26-176(3)(g), and WAC

173-26-186(3) require that SMPs “must address” “the statewide

denied Olympic Stewardship Found. v. State Dep’t of Ecology,
189 Wn.2d 1040, 409 P.3d 1066 (2018) cert. denied Olympic
Stewardship Found. v. State of Washington Env't & Land Use
Hearings Off., 139 S. Ct. 81, 202 L. Ed. 2d 25 (2018). While
this case involved appeals of a SMP from the Growth
Management Hearings Board, the same standards apply to
appeals from the SHB. RCW 34.05.570(3).

Y WAC 173-26-176(3)(g).

15



interest in the prevention and minimization of flood damages
... RCW 90.58.100(2)(h) and WAC 173-26-176(3)(g) do
not limit flooding to any particular source. The requirements are
not limited to riverine flooding or any other source. They apply
to flooding from all sources including sea level rise.

The Court of Appeals wrote “[t]he plain language of the
SMA and Guidelines do not require SMPs to address sea level
rise beyond the flood hazard regulations.”*® But RCW
90.58.100(2)(h) and WAC 173-26-176(3)(g) require the
“prevention and minimization of flood damages|.]” This means
all flood damages regardless of their source. These
requirements do not exclude flooding due to sea level rise. And
as will be documented below, the FEMA flood plain
regulations do not address flooding from sea level rise. The

Court of Appeals and SHB read an exclusion into RCW

7 RCW 90.58.100(2)(h).

8 Friends Of Grays Harbor v. State of Washington,
Department of Ecology, Court of Appeals Case No. 84019-3-I,
Slip Opinion p. 6 (Dec. 12, 2022).

16



90.58.100(2)(h) and WAC 173-26-176(3)(g) that does not
exist.*

Ecology’s Shoreline Master Program Handbook Appendix
A: Addressing Sea Level Rise in Shoreline Master Programs
states that “SMPs must address flood hazards and seek to
reduce the damage caused by floods. Goals and policies
addressing flood hazards are another opportunity to address sea
level rise and the increased threat from flooding that will
accompany it.”>°

Ecology also writes that “[s]ea level rise and storm surge[s]
will increase the frequency and severity of flooding, erosion,
and seawater intrusion—thus increasing risks to vulnerable
communities, infrastructure, and coastal ecosystems.”>! Further,
Ecology writes that:

An important consequence of higher sea level will

be increased frequency of high-tide flooding and
the potential for storm damage. A rise in sea level

4 1d.; CR 008185-86.
9 CR 002041 hereinafter Handbook Appendix A.
ST CR 002394.

17



of one foot might lead to as much as a tenfold
increase in the frequency of any particular flood
event. This means that events that currently occur
only once every decade may become annual
events, increasing the severity and frequency of
flood and storm-related damages to coastal
development (Shipman, 2009). These events could
pose an increasing threat to coastal development
and infrastructure.>?

The Nature Conservancy mapped sea level rise using
NOAA’s mid-level sea level rise projections.> A six foot “rise
in sea levels could result in the flooding of 9,300 homes in
Grays Harbor and 1,700 homes in Pacific County even without
the additional factors of a high tide or storm event. The
resulting damage to homes and other infrastructure from this
level or flooding would be over a billion dollars over the course
of the next century.”** The Nature Conservancy’s mapping

shows sea level rise adversely affecting the Pacific Beaches,

coastal estuaries, the North and South Bays of Grays Harbor,

32 CR 002036.
3 CR 003317.
>+ CR 003319.

18



the inner harbor, and the Chehalis River floodplain between
Aberdeen and Montesano in unincorporated Grays Harbor
County.”’

The Projected Sea Level Rise for Washington State projects
that for a low emission scenario there is a 50 percent probability
that sea level rise will reach or exceed 1.1 feet by 2100 for the
area around Copalis Beach.’® The assessment also projects that
for a higher emission scenario there is a 50 percent probability
that sea level rise will reach or exceed 1.5 feet by 2100 for the
same area.’’

Even though “[s]ea level rise and storm surge[s] will
increase the frequency and severity of flooding,”*® the SMP
does not include any policies, programs, or regulations to

address the flooding caused by sea level rise.”

> CR 003326-51.
%6 CR 002267.

7T CR 002269.

8 CR 002394,

' CR 002074-221.

19



“SEPA requires that the laws of the State, including the
SMA, be interpreted and administered in accordance with the
policies of SEPA. RCW 43.21C.030.”% Similarly, the Dairy
Federation decision concluded that “Ecology maintains a
responsibility to consider the impacts of climate change under
SEPA to the extent that it must interpret its rules and statutes
consistently with SEPA’s mandates.”®' The Pollution Control
Hearings Board’s “decision was contrary to law when it
dismissed this issue on summary judgment because climate
change must be considered to some extent.”®> Here, the SHB
and Court of Appeals ruled that SMPs do not need to address an

impact of climate change, sea level rise.®® This Court should

0 Olympic Stewardship, 199 Wn. App. at 737-38, 399 P.3d at
594-95.

! Washington State Dairy Fed'n v. State, 18 Wn. App. 2d 259,
309, 490 P.3d 290, 317 (2021).

2 Id.

63 CR 002034; CR 002057; CR 008186, CR 008190, and CR
008193; Friends Of Grays Harbor v. State of Washington,
Department of Ecology, Court of Appeals Case No. 84019-3-I,
Slip Opinion p. 6 (Dec. 12, 2022).

20



take review of this case and reverse the conclusions there is no
requirement for SMP updates to address sea level rise.

The SMP Flood Hazard Reduction policies in Section 3.4 do
not apply to areas that will become flood prone areas due to sea
level rise because the flood plain regulations only consider past
events.% This is made clear by Policy 3.4.1J which states

“[c]onsider and use available data relating to past flood events

and monitor its potential influence on increasing flood hazards
along estuarine and coastal shorelines.”® Policy 3.4.1J

originally required the County and Ecology to “[c]onsider and
use available data relating to sea level rise ...,” but the County
deleted ““sea level rise” and substituted “past flood events.”®¢

The County and Ecology will only consider past flood events

and the potential of past flood events to increase flood hazards.

64 CR 002101-03.
65 CR 002101 underlining added.
% CR 004612.

21



It will not consider the existing data on flooding caused by sea
level rise. Ecology approved the SMP with this change.¢’

While the areas subject to inundation due to sea level rise
are flood-prone, the extent of these hazards are not identified by
the FEMA’s flood insurance studies and maps. As Projected
Sea Level Rise for Washington State states

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