FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/9/2023 9:35 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101618-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FRIENDS OF GRAYS HARBOR and FUTUREWISE,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY; GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY; and the STATE OF WASHINGTON, SHORELINES HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondents.

# RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Sonia A. Wolfman, WSBA #30510 Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 sonia.wolfman@atg.wa.gov 360-586-6764 OID #91024

# **

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court's review is not warranted under

RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court of Appeals faithfully followed principles of statutory construction in concluding that neither the Shoreline Management Act nor the Guidelines require a shoreline master program to address sea level rise beyond the

specific flood requirements in the Guidelines, which the Grays Harbor Shoreline Master Program complies with. While sea level rise is undeniably an issue of public importance, the Court of Appeals' well-supported legal conclusion is not, in light of the absence of any mention of sea level rise in the Act combined with the absence of sea level requirements in the Guidelines. Given the geographic scope of its impacts and broad implications for local planning, sea level rise is more appropriately addressed through legislative efforts and the coordinated planning currently underway. Review by this Court is not warranted and the Court should deny FOGH's Petition for Review.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That Neither the Act Nor the Guidelines Impose Sea Level Rise Requirements Beyond the Guidelines' Flood Hazard Provisions

The Shoreline Management Act requires all shoreline master programs to have an element "that gives consideration to the statewide interest in the prevention and minimization of flood damages." RCW 90.58.100(2)(h); WAC 173-26-

176(3)(g). The flood element is met through compliance with the flood hazard reduction provisions in the Guidelines, which are found primarily in WAC 173-26-221(3). In a detailed analysis, the Shorelines Hearings Board compared the Program against the Guidelines' minimum requirements for the flood element, and correctly determined that the Program complied with them all. CR 8186–87 (Board Order, CL 9).

Rather than identifying a specific standard that the Program fails to meet, FOGH argues more generally that the reference to the public interest in RCW 90.58.020, and the flood element requirement in RCW 90.58.100(2)(h) and WAC 173-26-176(3)(g), requires master programs to include additional measures to address sea level rise—what measures they do not say. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this argument, noting that "[t]he plain language of the [Act] and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> At one point, FOGH commented that the Program should prohibit all new development in areas that could be inundated by the year 2100. CR 2247.

Guidelines do not require [master programs] to address sea level rise beyond the flood hazard regulations. To add requirements not explicitly present would be contrary to the rules of statutory interpretation." Slip. op. at 6. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with the Guidelines' statement that the provisions in WAC 173-26-221 (which includes the flood standards) address the elements required in RCW 90.58.100(2) and "implement the principles established in WAC 173-26-186." WAC 173-26-221. The Court is correct that nothing more is required.

FOGH argues that the Program's flood provisions are inadequate to address sea level rise because they are based in part on Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) flood studies and maps, which only look at past flood data and may not capture future sea level rise. However, FOGH overlooks the provision in the Act that authorizes a local government to rely on the FEMA maps and data.

RCW 90.58.030(2)(d) (defining "[s]horelands" as "floodways

and contiguous floodplain areas landward two hundred feet from such floodways."), RCW 90.58.030(2)(b)(i) (defining "[f]loodway" as the area that "[h]as been established in [FEMA] flood insurance rate maps or floodway maps."). See also WAC 173-26-020(19) (defining "[f]loodplain" as "that land area susceptible to inundation with a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year. The limit of this area shall be based upon flood ordinance regulation maps or a reasonable method which meets the objectives of the act.").

By incorporating the FEMA definitions and the maps developed by FEMA as part of the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), the Act authorizes a local government to rely on them for its flood provisions. Flooding is subject to an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> A local government can opt to map the floodway by identifying "those portions of a river valley lying streamward from the outer limits of a watercourse upon which flood waters are carried during periods of flooding that occur with reasonable regularity, although not necessarily annually . . . ." RCW 90.58.030(2)(b)(ii). Grays Harbor County, like most local governments, uses the established FEMA floodway. CR 6822.

overlapping set of requirements from different levels of government, all of which rely on federal flood data. For example, local governments rely on FEMA maps for flood management regulations. RCW 86.12.200, 86.16.051.9

Similarly, the Grays Harbor County Critical Areas Ordinance, which has been incorporated into the Program to protect critical areas in shorelines, defines "frequently flooded areas" as those areas identified in the flood insurance rate maps published by FEMA for Grays Harbor County and used for participation in the NFIP. WAC 173-26-221(2)(a)(ii); CR 6721, 4828–29.

The Guidelines require shoreline master programs to be based on "applicable watershed management plans, comprehensive flood hazard management plans, and other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Comprehensive flood management plans are developed by local governments under RCW 86.12 and must be consistent with the minimum requirements for participation in FEMA's National Flood Insurance Program. RCW 86.12.200. *See also* RCW 86.16.041(1) (requiring municipalities to adopt floodplain management ordinances that meet the minimum requirements of the NFIP).

comprehensive planning efforts" and encourages local governments to integrate master program flood provisions with other flood regulations such as stormwater management plans, floodplain management regulations, critical areas ordinances, and the NFIP. WAC 173-26-221(3)(b)(ii), (iii). Accordingly, the County appropriately adopted a consistent approach to flood management across the programs it administers by relying on the FEMA maps.

It is important to note that the Program's substantive flood provisions go beyond FEMA requirements, which focus on construction specifications. For example, the Program prohibits new structural flood hazard reduction measures (such as levees, floodwalls, revetments) anywhere in the shoreline unless it can be demonstrated that they are necessary to protect existing development, and only when nonstructural measures are not feasible, and if there will be no net loss of ecological functions. CR 6743–44 (SMP 3.4.3B); WAC 173-26-221(3)(c)(ii). The Program also prohibits residential

development in floodplains and channel migration zones where shoreline stabilization measures (e.g., retaining walls) will be necessary in the future. CR 6766 (SMP 4.11.3.C); WAC 173-26-231(3)(a)(iii)(A), -241(3)(j)(iii). In sum, the Program mirrors the Guidelines' flood requirements that limit development in flood hazard areas and prioritizes restoration of natural processes. WAC 173-26-221(3)(b). These measures will avoid and minimize damage to property and the environment, whatever the cause.

The *Dairy Federation* case, relied on by FOGH, does not require reversal of the Court of Appeals decision. Petition at 20 (citing *Wash. State Dairy Fed'n v. Dep't of Ecology*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 259, 490 P.3d 290 (2021)). In that case, because Ecology issued a water quality permit that did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The *Dairy Federation* decision was issued immediately prior to the filing of FOGH's Reply Brief at the Board. FOGH did not refer to the case in its Reply, nor did it file a Statement of Additional Authorities. FOGH referenced the case during oral argument at the Board, but the Board did not address SEPA in its decision.

comply with Ecology's water quality requirements, the court determined that Ecology "also failed to act in accord with SEPA's underlying policies." *Id.* at 309. Here, the Program satisfies the Shoreline Management Act's requirements.

Further, unlike the permit at issue in *Dairy Federation*, the record plainly demonstrates that the impacts of climate change were considered during the development of the Program. *See* Section III.C, *supra*; *see also* CR 2285–2300, 3317–51, 3467, 3625–27, 5317–39, 5345–49, 5805–09, 5823–38, 5845.

As the Court of Appeals accurately observed, the Act requires a flood element that "gives consideration" to minimizing and preventing flood damages "when appropriate." Slip op. at 8 (citing RCW 90.58.100(2)(h)). The Court correctly interpreted the Act and the Guidelines in concluding that the Program complies with RCW 90.58.020,

RCW 90.58.100(2)(h), and WAC 173-26-176(3)(g).

This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest where FOGH cannot show that the decision is

inconsistent with the Act or the Guidelines. Moreover, given the broad range of issues implicated by sea level rise, policymakers have determined that sea level rise is best addressed through a coordinated planning strategy.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the Grays Harbor County Shoreline Master Program Is Based on the Required Analysis of Scientific Information

In developing a master program, RCW 90.58.100(1)(e) requires, "to the extent feasible...[utilization of] all available information regarding hydrology, geography, topography, ecology, economics, and other pertinent data." The Guidelines implement this requirement through WAC 173-26-201(2)(a), which requires a local government to "base master program provisions on an analysis incorporating the most current, accurate, and complete scientific or technical information available." As discussed above, sea level rise was considered during the development of the Program. FOGH's complaint is that the Program does not do enough to address it.

FOGH alleges that the Program is not based on the Shoreline Analysis Report. The Report was developed to meet the Guidelines' requirement for a shoreline inventory and characterization, and a use analysis. WAC 173-26-201(3)(c), (d). It identifies current land use patterns and estimates future demand for shoreline space and potential use conflicts to ensure the Program is planning for appropriate uses consistent with the Act. See CR 3632–3957 (Report); WAC 173-26-201(3)(d)(ii). The Report provides information to ensure the Program appropriately assigns the shoreline environment designations that apply to distinct shoreline areas and determine the types of uses allowed in a particular area. Id.; see also WAC 173-26-211. The Report also informs the Shoreline Restoration Plan, by identifying restoration opportunities in different shoreline areas. CR 3719–3813; WAC 173-26-201(3)(c)(iii), -201(3)(d)(i)(A)(III). Thus, in accordance with the Guidelines, the Report informs the Program's development but is not part of the Program itself.

Relying on the *Olympic* case, FOGH argues that the Program must include sea level rise requirements because the Report identifies important habitat. Petition at 27–29. *Olympic* involved a challenge to a mining prohibition in certain shoreline areas. 199 Wn. App. at 735. The court determined that the prohibition complied with RCW 90.58.100(1) and WAC 173-26-201(2)(a), where the scientific analysis demonstrated that the shoreline areas were ecologically valuable and vulnerable to activities associated with mining. Olympic, 199 Wn. App. at 740–42. *Olympic* is distinguishable because, unlike sea level rise, the Guidelines require master programs to "include policies and regulations for mining." WAC 173-26-241(3)(h)(ii). Further, as explained below, the record demonstrates that the information in the Report was utilized as required by the Act and Guidelines.

For example, the restoration opportunities identified in the Report are carried forward into the Shoreline Restoration Plan, including land acquisitions and other projects that will increase the County's resilience to sea level rise. CR 8192–93 (Board Order, CL 18); *see also* CR 5301–95 (Restoration Plan). A restoration plan is a non-regulatory document that identifies current and future opportunities to restore and improve shoreline ecological functions and guides shoreline restoration efforts by providing information about opportunities to restore shoreline ecological functions as reflected in the Program's goals and policies. WAC 173-26-186(8)(c), -201(2)(f).

Like the Report, the preparation of a restoration plan is part of the planning process, but WAC 173-26-201(2)(a) does not require a restoration plan to be fully incorporated into the Program, nor would this be appropriate. The Program cannot command land acquisitions—instead the County must rely on voluntary efforts. *See*, *e.g.*, WAC 173-26-186(5) ("The policy goals of the act . . . may not be achievable by development regulation alone. Planning policies should be pursued through the regulation of development of private property only to an

extent that is consistent with all relevant constitutional and other legal limitations . . . .").

The Program refers to the Restoration Plan in a section on "Shoreline Habitat Restoration and Enhancement Projects." CR 2136 (SMP 5.8). This section requires the County to "[e]ncourage property owners, community groups, local, state, federal, and tribal entities to aid in implementing restoration projects identified through the Grays Harbor County Shoreline Restoration Plan." *Id.* (SMP 5.8.2.A). This policy ensures that shoreline restoration activities will be guided by and consistent with the Restoration Plan.

The record demonstrates that the Report informed the development of the Program and the Restoration Plan as required by the Guidelines. The Court of Appeals was correct in concluding that FOGH failed to prove the Program is not "based on" the Report. Slip op. at 13–15.

FOGH also asserts that Ecology's sea level rise guidance requires the Program to address sea level rise. *See* CR 4136–46.

(Appendix A). Ecology has never considered Appendix A to be mandatory, nor does Appendix A direct local governments to take any particular action. As Appendix A itself states, "[t]he Shoreline Management Act (SMA) and the Shoreline Master Program (SMP) Guidelines contain no requirements for [master programs] to address climate change or sea level rise." CR 4137. FOGH attempts to characterize Appendix A as mandatory by tying it to the separate requirement that analyses be based on current and accurate information. However, Appendix A was not promulgated as a rule, and as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, "[b]ecause it is not a binding rule, Appendix A cannot mandate the content of [master programs]." Slip op. at 16. See also Simpson Tacoma Kraft Co. v. Dep't of Ecology, 119 Wn.2d 640, 647, 835 P.2d 1030 (1992) (policies intended to be binding must be adopted pursuant to APA rulemaking procedures).

Even though Appendix A is not mandatory, the Program reflects many of its recommendations. For example,

Appendix A states that shoreline buffers are "one way to ensure that future development is not threatened by sea level rise.

Buffers and setbacks along with restrictive building standards near low lying or erosion prone shorelines will help reduce flooding and the need for shoreline armoring." CR 4144. The Program imposes a 200-foot buffer on the Pacific Ocean shorelines, as well as any shorelines designated "Natural." CR 6739–40 (SMP 3.3.3.E.(ii), (iv), (vi), (viii)). This restrictive buffer prohibits all new development on the marine shorelines, with the exception of water dependent uses and some uniquely situated single-family residences. *Id*.

Regarding shoreline structural stabilization, Appendix A "encourage[s] softer armoring techniques where appropriate." CR 4144. The Program's policies and regulations include, among other restrictions previously discussed, a preference for soft armoring techniques (such as the use of vegetation and soil) over the construction of hard shoreline stabilization structures (such as large rock or concrete walls). CR 6779

(SMP 5.9.2) Appendix A encourages the incorporation of sea level rise planning into permit conditions. CR 4144. To this end, the Program has policies that require the County to consider data related to tidal influences, storms, and flood events, which are all natural processes affected by sea level rise. These policies apply to all critical areas (including frequently flooded areas such as floodplains), residential development, transportation and parking, utilities, shoreline stabilization, beach and dune management, fill and excavation, and shoreline habitat restoration and enhancement projects. 11 CR 6739 (SMP 3.3.2(H)), CR 6766 (SMP 4.11.2(F)), CR 6767 (SMP 4.12.2(L)), CR 6768 (SMP 4.13.2(E)), CR 6771 (SMP 5.3.2(F)), CR 6774 (SMP 5.6.2(B)), CR 6777 (SMP 5.8.2(B)), CR 6780 (SMP 5.9.2(H)).

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